69157-1

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 06, 2012, 2:56 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 868919 69157-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR LANE; JOHN ALLERTON; and KENNETH GOROHOFF,

Appellants,

V.

PORT OF SEATTLE; KING COUNTY; BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY; GNP RLY, INC.; and CITY OF REDMOND,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

David F. Jurca, WSBA #2015 Bradley H. Bagshaw, WSBA #11729 Colette M. Kostelec, WSBA #37151 HELSELL FETTERMAN LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, Washington 98154 (206) 292-1144 Attorneys for Appellants Arthur Lane, John Allerton and Kenneth Gorohoff

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
	A.	Rail Lines T	nat Serve the Port of Seattle	5		
	B.	The Eastside	Rail Corridor	6		
	C.	The Puget So	ound Regional Council's Study of the Corridor.	8		
	D.	Rail Traffic	on the Corridor	11		
	E.	The Port's P	urchase	12		
	F.	Port Commis	sion Hearings	17		
	G.	Resolution 3639				
	H.	Summary Jud	dgment	22		
IV.	AR	GUMENT		24		
	A.	Standard of I	Review	24		
	B.	The Port Has	Limited Authority to Acquire Rail Lines	25		
	C.	The Purchase	e Was Not Authorized by RCW 53.08.010	27		
	D.	The Purchase	e Was Not Authorized by RCW 53.08.290	29		
		1. Lin	mitations contained in the statute	29		
		a)	RCW 53.08.290 grants a port the authority to acquire rail only if it is needed for the movement of intermodal interstate or foreign cargo to or from port facilities			

		acquire rail outside its district only if it finds by resolution enacted before the purchase that the acquisition is reasonably necessary to link port facilities with the interstate rail system32
	2.	The purchase of the Redmond Spur was not authorized by RCW 53.08.29034
	3.	The purchase of the Woodinville-to-Snohomish segment was not authorized by RCW 53.08.29035
		a) The Commission failed to make the required statutory finding of necessity
		b) Properly construed, Resolution 3639 did not make the finding required by RCW 53.08.290
		c) The Corridor was not needed to backup the Mainline
		d) The adoption of Resolution 3639 was arbitrary and capricious
		e) The Port's representation that it needs the Corridor to move its freight in an emergency amounts to constructive fraud
E		nern Portion of the Corridor Is Not a "Belt Line"
V. C	ONCLUSIO	N

APPENDICES

- A. Map of the Eastside Rail Corridor
- B. Map of Rail Lines in Western Washington
- C. Seattle Times Article dated March 21, 2012
- D. RCW 53.08.020
- E. RCW 53.08.290
- F. Chapter 110, Laws of 1980
- G. Map of the Redmond Spur

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Deaconess Hosp. v. Wash. State Highway Comm'n,
66 Wn.2d 378, 403 P.2d 54 (1965)
Five Corners Family Farmers v. State,
173 Wn.2d 296, 268 P.3d 892 (2011)40
Hama Hama Co. v. Shorelines Hearings Bd.,
85 Wn.2d 441, 536 P.2d 157 (1975)
Hayes v. City of Seattle,
131 Wn.2d 706, 934 P.2d 1179 (1997)44
Hook v. Lincoln County Noxious Weed Control Bd.,
Wn. App, 269 P.3d 1056 (2012)25
Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.,
146 Wn.2d 291, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002)24
Jones v. City of Centralia,
157 Wash. 194, 289 P. 3 (1930)38
King County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd.,
142 Wn.2d 543, 14 P.3d 133 (2000)
Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n,
169 Wn.2d 516, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010)
Noel v. Cole,
98 Wn.2d 375, 655 P.2d 245 (1982)
Norquest/RCA-W Bitter Lake P'ship v. City of Seattle,
72 Wn. App. 467, 865 P.2d 18 (1994)44
Port of Edmonds v. Northwest Fur Breeders Co-op., Inc.,
63 Wn. App. 159, 816 P.2d 1268 (1991)25

	Port of Seattle v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 92 Wn.2d 789, 597 P.2d 383 (1979)1, 24-25, 32, 37					
	Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Medical Center, 164 Wn.2d 261, 169 P.3d 753 (2008)					
	South Tacoma Way, LLC v. State, 169 Wn.2d 118, 233 P.3d 871 (2010)					
	State ex rel. Huggins v. Bridges, 97 Wash. 553, 166 P. 780 (1917)					
	State ex rel. Keeler v. Port of Peninsula, 89 Wn.2d 764, 575 P.2d 713 (1978)					
	State ex rel. Schleif v. Superior Court of Okanogan County, 119 Wash. 372, 205 P. 1046 (1922)					
	State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 69 P.3d 318 (2003)					
	Westside Hilltop Survival Comm. v. King County, 96 Wn.2d 171, 634 P.2d 862 (1981)					
	Whatcom County Fire Dist. No. 21 v. Whatcom County, 171 Wn.2d 421, 256 P.3d 295 (2011)24					
State Statutes						
	Laws of 1911, ch. 92, § 1					
	Laws of 1911, ch. 92, § 4					
	Laws of 1961, ch. 128, § 1					
	Laws of 1980, ch. 110, § 130					
	Laws of 1980, ch. 110, § 2					
	Laws of 1980, ch. 110, § 3					

Laws of 1981, ch. 47	32					
RCW 42.30.010	33					
RCW 42.30.060(1)	33					
RCW 53.04.010	26, 32					
RCW 53.08.010	27-28					
RCW 53.08.020	28, 49					
RCW 53.08.240	26					
RCW 53.08.245	28-29					
RCW 53.08.260	26					
RCW 53.08.290	passim					
RCW 53.08.330	26					
RCW 53.25.040	26					
Federal Statutes						
16 U.S.C. § 1247(d)	15					
Treatises						
10A Eugene McQuillin, Municipal Corporations § 29:108 (3d ed. 2009)	38					

I. INTRODUCTION

The Port of Seattle is not a general government empowered to do whatever it thinks will be in the best interest of the people. It is a special purpose municipal corporation, with limited powers that must be construed narrowly – "if there is doubt as to whether a power is granted, it must be denied." *Port of Seattle v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n*, 92 Wn.2d 789, 794-95, 597 P.2d 383 (1979) (holding that Port lacks authority to provide airporter service).

This case is about whether the Port of Seattle had authority to purchase the "northern portion" of the Eastside Rail Corridor, a defunct rail line east of Lake Washington that extends into Snohomish County. See App. A (Map). The Port's authority to acquire rail lines (and anything else) comes from the legislature as expressed in statutes setting forth the extent of that authority. Contrary to the trial court's reasoning, the Port's authority does not spring forth from the Port's self-generated "mission statement."

In 1917, only six years after port districts were authorized by statute, this Court struck down the Port of Seattle's first attempt to acquire a rail line. At issue then was a belt line railway that encircled the Port's Elliott Bay docks. Since then, the legislature has passed two statutes

¹ State ex rel. Huggins v. Bridges, 97 Wash. 553, 559, 166 P. 780 (1917).

authorizing ports to acquire rail lines. In 1961 the legislature authorized ports to acquire belt line railways; in 1980 the legislature authorized ports to acquire rail lines needed to move freight to and from port facilities.²

In December 2009, the Port paid BNSF Railway Company \$81,449,000 to buy the "northern portion" of the Eastside Rail Corridor. Initially, the Port attempted to rely on the 1961 and 1980 statutes as authority for that purchase. But the Corridor did not meet the definition of a belt line railway nor was it to be used to move the Port's freight, so the purchase was not authorized by either of those statutes. *See* n. 2, *supra*. So then, the Port claimed that the purchase was instead authorized by its selfgenerated "mission statement," which says the Port's mission is to "invest public resources to advance trade and commerce, promote industrial growth, stimulate economic development and create jobs." CP 1391 (Yoshitani Decl. at ¶ 8). But the legislature never extended such broad and vague authority to port districts; it has limited the Port's authority to stimulate economic development and create jobs to "programs for job training . . . associated with port tenants, customers, and local economic development related to port activities." RCW 53.08.245.

 $^{^2}$ See Laws of 1961, ch. 128, § 1, codified as the last sentence of RCW 53.08.020, and Laws of 1980, ch. 110, § 2, codified as RCW 53.08.290.

³ BNSF donated the "southern portion" of the Corridor to the Port. The appellant taxpayers do not challenge the Port's acceptance of the donation; they challenge only the Port's purchase of the "northern portion" of the Corridor.

Since the Port lacked authority to acquire the Corridor, the trial court should have held the purchase *ultra vires*, but it did not. Instead, relying in large part on the original 1911 authorizing statute, the same statute that almost 100 years ago this Court held did *not* authorize ports to acquire rail lines, the trial court ruled that the Port had the necessary authority and granted summary judgment to the Port.

The appellants (plaintiffs below) are taxpayers who reside in King County and pay taxes to the Port. They ask this Court to reverse the trial court. This case presents a clear example of a municipal corporation exceeding the limits placed on its authority by the legislature. Beginning in 1917 and on a number of occasions since, this Court has held that the authority granted to port districts must be narrowly construed to conform to the legislature's intent that port districts are authorized to do only those things necessary to accomplish the limited tasks assigned to them. Over the years, the Port of Seattle has repeatedly overreached that authority, and it has done so again in its acquisition of the Eastside Rail Corridor.

Appellants ask this Court to rein in the Port once more, and force it to live within the authority granted it by the legislature.

⁴ The scope of the power granted a port "must be examined critically, carefully, and strictly, and not with a disposition to strain the grant to find the power." *Huggins*, *supra*, 97 Wash. at 555.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred by granting defendants' motions for summary judgment and denying the taxpayers' motion for partial summary judgment, and in so doing holding that the Port had authority to acquire the Eastside Rail Corridor. Three issues pertain to this assignment of error:

- 1. Is the Port's purchase of the northern portion of the Corridor authorized by RCW 53.08.010, which grants a port the authority to acquire facilities "necessary for its purposes," even though other statutes specifically address a port's authority to acquire rail lines, and even though this Court has previously held that this statute does not authorize the Port's acquisition of a rail line?
- 2. Is the Port's purchase of the northern portion of the Corridor authorized by RCW 53.08.290, which grants a port the authority to acquire freight rail lines "in connection with the operation of facilities and improvements of the district," even though the Port is not operating the line in connection with the Port's harbor facilities, its airport, or any of its other facilities or improvements?
- 3. Is the Port's purchase of the northern portion of the Corridor authorized by RCW 53.08.020, which grants a port the authority to acquire a "belt line railway," even though the Corridor is not a belt line but rather a local branch line that encircles nothing?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Rail Lines That Serve the Port of Seattle

Washington's main north-south rail line (the "Mainline") runs along the Puget Sound shoreline north of Seattle and parallels I-5 south of Seattle. See App. B (Map); CP 232-33 (Statewide Rail Capacity and System Needs Study). The Mainline connects the Port's harbor facilities to the three east-west interstate rail corridors that cross the Cascades enroute to the Midwest. Id.

Rail traffic from the Port reaches the northernmost of those lines by taking the Mainline north to Everett and then travelling east over Stevens Pass. See App. B. The Stevens Pass line is the only east-west interstate line connected to the Eastside Rail Corridor, and it is already congested – it operates at 123% of practical capacity. CP 212. Rail traffic from the Port reaches the second east-west line by heading south from the Port on the Mainline to Auburn and then travelling east over Stampede Pass. See App. B. The Stampede Pass line operates at 60 percent of practical capacity. CP 213. Rail traffic from the Port reaches the final east-west line by going south on the Mainline to Vancouver, Washington, and then east through the Columbia River Gorge. See App. B. The Columbia River Gorge line operates at 70 percent of practical capacity. CP 213. The Port's harbor facilities were well connected to each of these lines prior to

the Port's acquisition of the Corridor, and remain well connected to each of them today. *See* App. B. Collectively, these lines carry all of the Port's interstate rail traffic. *Id.* None of that traffic travels on the Eastside Rail Corridor for any part of its journey.⁵

B. The Eastside Rail Corridor

The Eastside Rail Corridor is a narrow, single-track line that was constructed in the 1880s by the Northern Pacific Railway, a BNSF predecessor. CP 442-43 (Johnson Dep at 35-36); see CP 679-83 (Connections PowerPoint at 9-14). BNSF used the Corridor primarily to haul local freight for the few businesses located on the line, and maintained it at a low level appropriate to intermittent local freight use. CP 98 (BNSF's Ans'r to 1st Am. Compl. at ¶ 20).

In January 1997, when mudslides temporarily closed the Mainline between Seattle and Everett, BNSF attempted to use the Corridor as a backup route to the Stevens Pass line, but the experiment was an utter failure – one of only two trains it sent up the line derailed and "dumped some containers down [a] ravine." CP 504-05 (BNSF's Ans'r to Interr. 8); CP 438 (Johnson Dep at 22). Subsequently, the condition of the line

⁵ Before the Port acquired it, the Eastside Rail Corridor was severed at Wilburton, south of Bellevue, by the removal of an overpass and six-tenths of a mile of rail. CP 126-27 (Port's Ans'r to 1st Am. Complaint at ¶ 43), *see* CP 759-60 (PSRC Report at 18-19). The cut at Wilburton makes it impossible for rail traffic from the Port to reach the interstate rail system via the Eastside Rail Corridor.

deteriorated further, and by 2003, due to the difficult geometry of the Corridor, the poor condition of the tracks, and the suburban environment that by then surrounded much of the line, BNSF was unable to run trains faster than 10 miles per hour on some parts of the line, and it could run them no faster than 25 miles per hour on any part of the line. CP 728-29 (BNSF Memo at 2-3); CP 426-28 (Johnson Dep at 10-12).

At that point, BNSF determined that the Corridor was no longer economically viable for freight use and decided to sell it. CP 98 (BNSF's Ans'r to 1st Am. Compl. at ¶ 21). Before reaching this conclusion, BNSF specifically considered whether it should keep the Corridor as a backup if calamity rendered the Mainline unusable between the Port and Everett. BNSF concluded that the Corridor was not useful as a backup to the Mainline because of the line's grade, its curvature, its many road crossings, its overall condition and the risk of derailment. CP 730 (BNSF Memo at 4); CP 437-38 (Johnson Dep. at 21-22). The railroad concluded that if the Mainline was shut down between Seattle and Everett, the line across the Cascades at Stampede Pass and the line through the Columbia River Gorge would adequately handle any traffic that needed to be rerouted. CP 437-38 (Johnson Dep. at 21-22). It also concluded that the

⁶ This was one of the unsupportable rationales conjured up during the course of this litigation by the Port in an attempt to justify the purchase. CP 508-09 (Port Ans'r to Interr. 2), see discussion *infra* Part IV.D.3.c.

best way to handle future increased freight traffic would be to increase the height of the Stampede Pass tunnel by 18 inches so it could handle double-stacked shipping containers, thereby greatly increasing the capacity of the Stampede Pass line. CP 444 (*id.* at 38).

C. The Puget Sound Regional Council's Study of the Corridor

In early 2006, in response to BNSF's offer to sell the Corridor, the PSRC⁷ formed the "BNSF Corridor Advisory Committee" consisting of representatives of jurisdictions in the vicinity of the Corridor, transportation interests, and potential Corridor users. CP 742 (PSRC Report at 1). The Port's Regional Transportation Manager, Geraldine Poor, was appointed as one of the committee members. *See* CP 738 (PSRC Report at i). Representatives of BNSF, Redmond, WSDOT and others were appointed as well, and King County Councilmember Julia Patterson chaired the committee. *Id.* The committee had a budget of \$600,000 and it retained a consulting firm, HDR Associates, Inc., to do extensive technical work. CP 388 (Creighton Dep. at 25).

The committee considered five different "scenarios" of possible

⁷ The Puget Sound Regional Council is a regional planning agency with specific responsibilities under federal and state law for transportation planning, economic development and growth management. PSRC helps local governments and transportation agencies plan for the future of our region by addressing issues that go beyond the boundaries of any individual city or county. Membership of PSRC includes central Puget Sound counties (King, Pierce, Snohomish and Kitsap), cities and towns, ports, tribes, transit agencies, and the state. *See* PSRC website, http://www.psrc.org.

uses for the Corridor, one of which ("Scenario 3 – Trail with Increased Rail") was using the Corridor as a backup route to move freight between the Port and the interstate rail system. At the first meeting of the committee in March 2006, Jerome Johnson, who managed the sale of the line for BNSF, told the committee that "the rail line has very challenging geometry and does not lend itself to serving as a viable by-pass." CP 1083 (Minutes at 2). At the committee's next meeting two months later, the Manager of WSDOT's Freight Rail Division informed the committee that the state did not consider the Corridor to be a strategic freight rail corridor. CP 791 (PSRC Report at 50). She explained: "Stampede Pass is a far better example of a strategic corridor . . . [R]aising [the] height of [the] tunnel to allow double-stacked trains . . . would enable a net increase in movement of . . . transcontinental rail traffic." *Id*.

At the next meeting in September 2006, HDR reported on its study of the potential environmental, traffic and economic impacts of the scenarios under consideration. CP 793-95 (*id.* at 52-54). It concluded that making the Corridor suitable as a backup to the Mainline would be difficult and expensive.⁹

⁸ The others were: 1. Trail-Only; 2. Trail with Current Rail (includes Dinner Train); 4. Trail with Commuter Rail; and 5. Trail with High Capacity Transit. CP 1091-92 (Minutes at 1-2).

⁹ For example, enabling two-way service on the line for the long trains needed to backup the Mainline would require the construction of five 1.5 mile long sidings in locations that

Based on the foregoing, the PSRC Committee voted *unanimously* at the September 2006 meeting to reject the option of using the Corridor to backup the Mainline. CP 1110 (Minutes at 1-8). The final report of the Committee summed up its conclusion as follows:

[O]ne of the purposes of this study was to examine the opportunity to utilize this corridor as a strategic regional or state rail corridor to serve future demands for freight rail traffic and/or to serve as a redundant corridor if unfortunate natural or manmade circumstances rendered the BNSF mainline along Puget Sound (between Seattle and Everett) inoperable for an extended period of time. This study found that this eastside BNSF corridor is *not relevant* to serve such strategic or redundant needs . . .

CP 805 (PSRC Report at 64) (emphasis added). ¹⁰ The Committee listed five reasons why the Corridor was not a suitable backup to the Mainline:

- without major investments in reconstruction of the Corridor it was incapable of handling double stacked containers needed to replace Mainline traffic;
- to upgrade the Corridor to serve as a backup would cost in excess of several hundred million dollars, and even then the geometry of the Corridor would not permit trains to run fast enough to replace more than half the Mainline traffic;

did not block any road crossings. CP 776, 793-95 (*id.* at 35, 52-54). This would mean acquiring additional rights of way and performing extensive environmental mitigation. CP 781, 793-95 (*id.* at 40, 52-54). The consultant estimated that improving the Corridor as a backup line "could potentially cost over \$200 million, not including likely needed mitigation, drainage, special rail control signalization, and additional right-of-way costs." CP 785 (*id.* at 44).

¹⁰ The Advisory Committee's recommendations were subsequently adopted by the Transportation Policy Board of the PSRC, by its Executive Board and by its General Assembly. CP 1041 (2/8/07 Minutes at 5a-8); CP 1058-59 (2/22/07 Minutes at 7a-14); CP 804 (PSRC Report at 63).

- adding the needed improvements would have "highly negative impacts on the adjacent environment, adjacent local land uses, and the community population along the corridor":
- the Corridor feeds only the Stevens Pass line which is already at capacity, so investing in the Corridor would not lead to any net expanded freight rail capacity when the Mainline is operable; and
- it would be far preferable for the region to expend scarce dollars improving the Stampede Pass Line, which would increase net rail capacity as well as serve as a redundant line if disaster should befall the Mainline.

Id.

D. Rail Traffic on the Corridor

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