64157-1 SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 07, 2012, 2:54 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No.-96094-8 RECEIVED B 5 (-1 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### ARTHUR LANE, JOHN ALLERTON and KENNETH GOROHOFF,

Appellants,

٧.

PORT OF SEATTLE; KING COUNTY; BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY; and CITY OF REDMOND,

Respondents.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PORT OF SEATTLE**

Timothy G. Leyh, WSBA #14853 Randall Thomsen, WSBA #25310 Katherine Kennedy, WSBA #15117 DANIELSON HARRIGAN LEYH & TOLLEFSON LLP 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1700 Attorneys for Respondent Port of Seattle

ORIGINAL

##

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

"[W]here a governing body takes an otherwise proper action later invalidated for procedural reasons only, that body may retrace its steps and remedy the defects by reenactment with the proper formalities." *Henry v. Town of Oakville*, 30 Wn. App. 240, 246-47, 633 P.2d 892 (1981) (ordinance can be ratified where it originally was passed without proper notice).<sup>100</sup> The Port's failure to adopt the resolution <u>prior</u> to the ERC acquisition was a procedural oversight that the Port cured.

Appellants' *ultra vires* argument depends on a finding that the Port had no authority to acquire the Corridor in the first instance – a burden they cannot meet. In *South Tacoma Way, LLC v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 118, 233 P.3d 871 (2010), the Court defined *ultra vires* acts as those acts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> The trial court contrasted RCW 53.08.290 with a number of other statutes that <u>do</u> require a resolution prior to the act in question. See Order at 19-20 (See Supp. Clerk's Papers)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> See also Pierce County v. State of Wash., 159 Wn.2d 16, 148 P.3d 1002 (2006) (voter ratification not required for Sound Transit's formation because subsequent statutory amendments retroactively removed the requirement).

"performed with <u>no legal authority</u>," in situations where "<u>no power to act</u> <u>existed</u>, even where proper procedural requirements are followed." *Id.* at 123 (emphasis added). An act is not *ultra vires* if the entity is "generally authorized" to perform the act in question.<sup>101</sup>

The Port had the general authority to act under .010 (authority to acquire "all lands, property"); .020 (authority to acquire belt line); .245 (economic development); and .290 (authority to acquire "rail services, equipment, and facilities inside or outside the port district"). The .290 proviso requiring a resolution is an <u>exception</u> to the Port's general authority under these statutes: "Provisos operate as limitations upon or exceptions to the general terms of the statute to which they are appended and as such, generally, should be strictly construed with any doubt to be resolved in favor of the general provisions ....." *State v. Wright*, 84 Wn.2d 645, 652, 529 P.2d 453 (1974).

Appellants' argument that the failure to make the finding <u>before</u> acquisition of the Corridor "strikes at the heart" of the statute's policy is specious.<sup>102</sup> The required finding was made. Appellants argue that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> The Court in *South Tacoma* relied on *Haslund v. City of Seattle*, 86 Wn.2d 607, 547 P.2d 1121 (1976). *Haslund* defined an *ultra vires* act as "one performed without <u>any</u> authority to act on the subject," where the "subject matter is <u>wholly beyond</u> the scope of the municipal corporation's powers." *Id.* at 622. The ERC purchase was not "wholly beyond" the Port's powers in light of .010, .020, .245 and .290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> A public policy does exist here: it is to enable ports to "acquire rail facilities from defunct lines." 1981 Legislative Journal at 12; see also RCW 47.76.200, .240; 64.04.180.

Port did not "carefully consider its need for rail in a public hearing before the acquisition," but the undisputed record is the Port's acquisition of the Corridor was addressed at least 14 different times in public Commission meetings; that the Commission considered input from interested members of the public; and that it thoroughly debated the purchase. The Port's robust public process was a far cry from the "subversion" that Appellants assert.<sup>103</sup>

Adoption of Resolution 3639 was not arbitrary and capricious. Where a municipal corporation's actions come within the purpose and object of its enabling statute and no express limitations apply, "this court leaves the choice of means used in operating the [corporation] to the discretion of municipal authorities. <u>We limit judicial review ... to</u> whether the particular contract or action was arbitrary or capricious, or <u>unreasonable</u>." *City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of Tacoma*, 108 Wn.2d 679, 695, 743 P.2d 793 (1987) (emphasis in original); *see also Branson v. Port of Seattle*, 152 Wn.2d 862, 871-72, 101 P.3d 67 (2004) (refusing to narrowly construe the means a municipal entity uses to carry out its power).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Appellants cite *Noel v. Cole*, 98 Wn.2d 375, 655 P.2d 245 (1982), but in that case the defendant <u>conceded</u> that the State acted illegally by barring logging without preparing a required Environmental Impact Statement, *l.e.*, the parties agreed that the State had acted without authority. There, the State had not engaged in any curative, retroactive act.

Arbitrary and capricious action is "willful and unreasoning action, without consideration and in disregard of facts and circumstances." *Pierce County Sheriff v. Civil Serv. Comm 'n*, 98 Wn.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983). The arbitrary and capricious standard is "very narrow"; "[w]here there is room for two opinions, action is not arbitrary and capricious even though one may believe an erroneous conclusion has been reached." *Id.* 

Appellants also argue that the Port acted arbitrarily and capriciously in enacting Resolution 3639 because the Commission allegedly did not consider the PSRC study regarding the alleged unsuitability of the Corridor as a freight rail (or other transportation) corridor. Those assertions are contrary to the undisputed record, and, even if true, would be inadequate to establish arbitrary and capricious conduct as a matter of law.

Commissioners Bryant, Creighton, and Tarleton (a Commission majority) all testified that they were aware of the PSRC report.<sup>104</sup> As Commissioner Tarleton explained, the Commission — which had a longer-term perspective and considered more factors — simply disagreed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Commissioner Bryant, a member of PSRC's Executive Committee, testified that he was aware of the Report, but believed it was "important to ensure that we preserve (the Corridor) for future transportation uses ...." CP 2845-48. Commissioner Creighton was on PSRC's Transportation Policy Board and knew of the study. CP 2793. Commissioner Tarleton testified she knew about the study when she first joined the Commission. CP 2162; 2831.

with the PSRC conclusion about the Corridor as a "strategic" rail corridor.<sup>105</sup> Other parties concurred with the Port regarding the ERC's significance.<sup>106</sup> It is not the Court's place to second guess the Commission's conclusion.

There is <u>no</u> evidence in this case that the Port engaged in "willful and unreasoning action, without consideration and in disregard of facts and circumstances." The undisputed record is to the contrary. The three individual Appellants may disagree with the Commissioners' unanimous judgment, but their remedy is through the ballot box.

# G. The Court Should Defer to the Port's Determination that Acquisition of the Corridor was Necessary.

As the trial court held, the Port's finding of "necessity" was a quasi-legislative determination entitled to deference. Such a determination generally is "conclusive in the absence of proof of actual fraud or arbitrary and capricious conduct, as would constitute constructive fraud." *PUD No. 2. v. N. Am. Free Trade Zone*, 159 Wn.2d 555, 575-76, 151 P.3d 176 (2007). Appellants failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding arbitrary and capricious conduct, fraud, or constructive fraud.

"Necessary" within the context of RCW 53.08.010 (port may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> CP 2832-35.

<sup>106</sup> See, e.g., CP 1158-60; 2389-90; 2540-99.

purchase "all lands [and] property . . . necessary for its purposes") means

"reasonable necessity, under the circumstances of the particular case."

["Necessary"] does not mean absolute, or indispensable, or immediate need, but rather its meaning is interwoven with the concept of public use and embraces the right of the public to expect and demand the service and facilities to be provided by a proposed acquisition or improvement.

Asotin County, 73 Wn.2d at 75; see also HTK Mgmt., LLC v. The Seattle

Popular Monorail Auth., 155 Wn.2d 612, 636 n.19, 121 P.3d 1166 (2005)

("necessity" does not require showing that acquisition of property was

"absolutely necessary or indispensable").107

The Port's legislative determination of necessity is "conclusive

unless there is proof of actual fraud or arbitrary and capricious conduct

amounting to constructive fraud or the government fails to abide by the

clear dictates of the law."

When reasonable minds can differ, courts will not disturb the legislative body's decision that necessity exists so long as it was reached "honestly, fairly, and upon due consideration" of the facts and circumstances. <u>The</u> <u>decision may be unwise</u>, but it is still a decision for the <u>legislative body to make, not this court</u>.

Central Puget Sound, 156 Wn.2d at 417-18 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Appellants argue that *State ex rel. Schleif v. Superior Court of Okanogan County*, 119 Wash. 372, 205 P. 1046 (1992), defines "reasonable necessity" as no "other practical or feasible way," but they fail to acknowledge the limited context in which the term was used. *Schleif* involved condemnation of an easement by necessity. Because there was no practicable or feasible way out of the property other than via the easement, the court found a "reasonable necessity" to condemn the private right-of-way. The case clearly does not define "reasonable necessity" in the context of RCW 53.08.290 or 53.08.010.

In Central Puget Sound, the Court upheld Sound Transit's determination of "necessity" even though the agency may have relied on erroneous beliefs in acquiring property for a park-and-ride. The Court refused to second guess Sound Transit's decision without a showing of "actual fraud or arbitrary and capricious conduct amounting to constructive fraud," which was not made. 165 Wn.2d at 418 n.5; *see also City of Des Moines v. Hemenway*, 73 Wn.2d 130, 140, 437 P.2d 171 (1968) ("Necessary" means "reasonable necessity under the circumstances"; city did not act arbitrarily and capriciously in condemning property for marina, although the marina benefited nonresidents).

Likewise, as a matter of law, the Port established "reasonable necessity" for purposes of RCW 53.08.290. The Court may take judicial notice of the fact that acquisition of the portion within Snohomish County was "reasonably necessary" to link the portion in King County to the interstate railroad system. ER 201.

In addition, "reasonable necessity" may take into account future anticipated uses and needs.<sup>108</sup> In *Welcker*, 65 Wn.2d 677, the Court upheld the City's decision to acquire land contiguous to the Green River to protect the city's water supply, although no immediate or foreseeable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Appellants rely on a dictionary definition of "necessary" in arguing that it means "absolutely required" or "essential." But "necessary" is modified in RCW 53.08.290 by the qualifier "reasonably," which means an action that is "sensible" or "not immoderate."

threat existed and other measures (such as enforcing the pollution laws) could protect the water. The Court reasoned that "[r]easonable necessity for use in a reasonable time is all that is required." *Id.* at 684.

We agree with the city .... Such an agency cannot await the onset of an epidemic before acting .... The fact that the water now being supplied by the city is potable and does not exceed tolerable contamination levels, or that such contamination as presently exists cannot be traced to the usage of the lands here involved, in nowise detracts from the wisdom of present necessity of providing reasonable safeguards against a reasonably realistic and foreseeable future danger of contamination. <u>A "stitch in time" has</u> <u>never been considered capricious</u>.

Id. at 685-86 (emphasis added); see also In re Port of Grays Harbor, 30
Wn. App. 855, 863-65, 638 P.2d 633 (1982) (acquiring gravel pit
"necessary" although property was larger than required, no plans for development existed, and port was motivated to stifle competition).

Appellants now assert for the first time that the Port's representation that it needs the Corridor to move freight amounts to constructive fraud. Appellants rely on out-of-context statements, selectively omitting portions that would make it clear that the statements are not referring to the Northern Portion at all, but to the Southern Portion that is not involved in this action. The Port owns and will continue to own the Northern Portion as an <u>active working rail line</u> serving customers in King County. Appellants ignore this fact. Plaintiffs also ignore the fact that any trail use of the ERC (the Southern Portion and Redmond Spur) is required by the federal "Rails to Trails Act," 16 U.S.C. § 1247(d), to prevent abandonment of the right-of-way for railway purposes.

Appellants refer to a statement by former Commissioner Bob Edwards regarding the use of the Corridor for a bicycle trail. The statement, however, refers only to the Southern Portion whose acquisition was not challenged by Appellants. Commissioner Edwards also refers to the ERC as a "tremendous opportunity" for "economic development" as "part of a high-capacity rail system."

Appellants also refer to alleged statements of Commissioners Bill Bryant and Gael Tarleton in which they purportedly told the Municipal League that acquisition of the ERC was a "legacy project," "inconsistent with the Port's core mission." But the statements are taken out of context. The Corridor purchase went through numerous iterations. As Commissioner Bryant testified, "the transaction I was referring to at the meeting was <u>not</u> the transaction that the Port ultimately entered into."<sup>109</sup>

Appellants mention a comment from former Commissioner Alec Fisken that the Port was involved because it has the "right to raise property tax without a vote," and Commissioner John Creighton's reference to the Port as a "bridge financier." Appellants refer to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> CP 1136-37.

statements out of context,<sup>110</sup> but neither statement contradicts the Port Commissioners' conclusion that purchase of the ERC was necessary. The Port can raise and use property taxes to engage in any authorized activities. The Port's preservation of an irreplaceable transportation corridor, and the sales of portions to other public entities for economic development and other uses, is hardly "constructive fraud."

14

The Port Commission, after years of study, deliberation, and public input, decided that acquiring the Corridor was reasonably necessary to the Port's purposes including fostering economic development in King County. Acquiring the portion of the Corridor in Snohomish County not only was "reasonably necessary," but <u>required</u> to link that portion within King County (a facility in its own right) to the interstate railroad system.<sup>111</sup> The portion within King County included the Southern Portion, part of the Northern Portion, and the Redmond Spur.

The Port Commissioners determined that the Corridor was reasonably necessary to ensure that transportation corridors existed that would enable the Port to respond to evolving economic conditions, trade patterns, and competitive demands. The Port also determined the ERC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> See CP 1144 (Commissioner Creighton took the view that "the Port should initially purchase the entire ERC and then sell various interests to other regional partners to decrease the Port's financial outlay," thus limiting the Port's net expenditures in order to position the Port to "handle a down economy."

<sup>111</sup> See CP 1129; 1133-34; 1140; 1149; 1403-05; 2159.

acquisition was reasonably necessary to ensure that an existing and active freight railway used by King County businesses could continue to access the interstate rail system. Purchase of the entire Corridor was a "stitch in time" to keep the 42-mile-long parcel intact for freight, transportation, and other uses. Because as a matter of law Appellants have not (and cannot) establish constructive fraud, the Port Commissioners' determination of necessity is conclusive.

## H. The Court Lacks Jurisdiction Because Appellants Failed to Pay the Alleged "Illegal Taxes" Under Protest.

The Court lacks jurisdiction to hear a taxpayer challenge to property taxes when the taxes have not been paid under protest.

Appellants seek reimbursement of "the full amount of all taxes unlawfully

imposed" for the Port's purchase of the Corridor, but they concede that

they failed to pay the taxes under protest. RCW 84.68.020 states in part:

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